THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

---

Dale Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001993

---

**RECEIVED**  
JUN 17 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

Ronald E. Price and Diana R. B. Price.....Respondents,

v.:

Belinda Fox and Gerry Fox.....Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

June 16, 2019

Paul B. Ferrara, III  
S.C. Bar No. 70511  
8887 Old University Blvd., Ste. 201  
North Charleston, SC 29406  
(843) 569-5511  
Attorney for Petitioners

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents filed suit in Berkeley County case number 2004-CP-08-1150 against Belinda Fox and Danny Gilbert alleging breach of contract, fraud, and conspiracy relating to the sale and purchase of Lot 20 in Phase II of Eagle Harbor Subdivision. This complaint was subsequently amended to add the builder of the Respondent's home, Heritage Classic Homes, Inc. as a Defendant on October 20, 2005.

Respondents then filed a second motion to amend the complaint on November 30, 2005, to add Gerry Fox to the action, claiming he was in a joint enterprise with the existing Defendants as common partners. Thereafter, Respondents voluntarily agreed to dismiss this motion and a consent order for dismissal was filed on February 7, 2006.

Respondents then filed a third motion to amend (incorrectly labeled the "second motion to amend") to supplement the complaint to add the developers of the subdivision: Gerry Fox, Troy Winn, and Sarah Winn, Heritage Classic Homes, Inc. and Eagle Harbor Phase II Development Partnership. The Court granted the motion to amend on September 8, 2015. In this amended complaint, Respondents abandoned their causes of action for fraud, and civil conspiracy and added a new cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty against the developers of the subdivision: Gerry Fox and Belinda Fox, Troy Winn and Sarah Winn, and Danny Gilbert.

Troy Winn and Sarah Winn filed for summary judgment citing the statute of limitations, which the Court granted on May 6, 2016. Gerry Fox filed for summary judgment on May 9, 2017 citing the statute of limitations. The Court subsequently denied his motion on October 17, 2017. Gerry Fox thereafter filed a motion to reconsider which was denied by Order dated November 28, 2017.

In 2007, in case 2007-CP-08-458 filed in Berkeley County, Respondents file a case against Investor's Title for the same claims as asserted in this action. The Respondents settled that case for One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand (\$125,000.00) Dollars and a stipulation of dismissal was filed with the Court in that action on September 9, 2015.

The case was called for a non-jury trial on May 3, 2018. The Respondents alleged breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act against Defendants. The trial court filed an Order of trial on the merits on June 29, 2018 granting judgment against Danny Gilbert, individually and Heritage Classic Homes, Inc. for breach of contract for the sum of Ninety-Seven Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty-Six and 83/100 (\$97,836.83) Dollars; judgment against Danny Gilbert, Belinda Fox, Gerry Fox, Eagle Harbor Incorporated and Eagle Harbor Phase II Development Partnership, jointly and severally, for negligent misrepresentation for the sum of Eighty Two Thousand Five Hundred Thirty (\$82,530.00); and judgment against Danny Gilbert, Belinda Fox, Gerry Fox, Eagle Harbor Incorporated and Eagle Harbor Phase II Development Partnership, jointly and severally, for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, hereinafter "SCUTPA" for the sum of Eighty Two Thousand Five Hundred Thirty (\$82,530.00) trebled to Two Hundred Forty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Ninety (\$247,590.00) Dollars under S.C. Code Ann. 39-5-140(a), along with attorney's fees and costs.

Appellants filed a motion to reconsider the trial court's ruling on July 19, 2018. Thereafter, on October 9, 2018, the trial judge denied the motion to reconsider the trial order. Appellants subsequently filed a motion for Respondents to elect their remedy per the trial Court's order on September 27, 2018. The Appellants filed this appeal as the thirty (30) day

deadline to review the trial court's orders was to expire. The trial court has not yet held a hearing on Respondent's election of remedy.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case involves alleged misrepresentations surrounding the purchase of a single lot in the Eagle Harbor Subdivision of Berkeley County and a home construction. Eagle Harbor Inc. was the developer of the neighborhood. Belinda Fox owned Lot 20. Danny Gilbert acted as an agent for Belinda Fox in the sale of Lot 20 to the Prices. Danny Gilbert showed Ronald E. Price and Diana R.B. Price Lot 20 several times and advised that Heritage Classic Homes, Inc. could help them build a home on the lot. On or about September 13, 2003, the Prices entered into an agreement to buy Lot 20 from Belinda Fox, in her individual capacity, for Ninety Thousand Four Hundred \$90,400 Dollars. (R.A. 883-889). Danny Gilbert signed the contract for Belinda Fox using a power of attorney. (R.A. 884).

The written contract stated in paragraph eight (8) the special conditions: (a) Buyer is purchasing property "as is", (b) Property is to be conveyed to buyer at closing; (c) Buyer to receive copy of the covenants and restrictions from the closing attorney at closing; (d) Property is subject to restrictive covenants attached to the contract; (e) Contract is subject to final subdivision of parent tract by Berkeley County; (f) Buyer is to pay cost of underground utilities (g) Rollback taxes to be estimated by attorney and included in final closing costs; (h) Buyer has the right to withdraw from contract with full reimbursement within 30 days due to job uncertainty; and (I) Developer agrees to allow subdividing of property into 2 separate lots with the possibility of 3 upon approval of Homeowners Association. (R.A. 883-884).

Additionally, the contract stated in paragraph ten (10) that "Buyer, at Buyer's expense shall have the privilege and responsibility of inspecting, environmental concerns, including, but

not limited to hazardous waste, wetland study and radon gas. Buyer shall notify Seller or listing agent in writing by 12:00 noon on October 1, 2003 of any deficiencies revealed by inspection.” (R.A. 883-884).

Neither Ronald Price, nor Diana Price notified either Danny Gilbert or Belinda Fox of any deficiencies revealed pursuant to an inspection by October 1, 2003. On November 25, 2003 the Prices purchased Lot 20 in Phase II of Eagle Harbor Subdivision with the representation of attorney Jeffrey Spell, Esq. (R.A. 885-889).

Prior to purchasing the lot, the Prices proceeded to enter into a contract with Danny Gilbert and Eagle Harbor Homes, Inc. to build their home on Lot 20. (R.A. 890-937). After a short time, the project went awry. The Prices were unhappy with the job that Danny Gilbert and his company performed and terminated the contract, without paying him. (R.A. 954). Danny Gilbert then filed a mechanic’s lien against the Prices and they counterclaimed for the cost to cover. (R.A. 957-960).

Respondents then filed this action against Danny Gilbert and Belinda Fox for breach of contract, fraud and civil conspiracy. (R.A. 132). In the complaint they alleged that certain statements made by Danny Gilbert, that induced them to enter into the contract, were not true. The Respondents allege that Danny Gilbert advised them that they should buy Lot 20 as it would be big enough to be subdivided into three (3) lots; the lot was located in a subdivision that would be enforced by restrictive covenants; and certain amenities would be available for the homeowner’s use. However, Respondents allege that they could not subdivide their lots into three (3) lots because the soil did not perk; that the lot was not part of a valid homeowners association and did not contain covenants, restrictions, architectural guidelines, other benefits, etc. which would enhance the property; that Eagle Harbor failed to comply with applicable

government regulations when developing the land; that lot 20 was partially designated as wetlands; and that a homeowners association was never organized and funded. They allege that as a result of these misrepresentations, they suffered pecuniary losses. (R.A. 401 lines 8-10).

It is undisputed that the Foxes, Eagle Harbor, Inc., and the Phase II Development Partnership did not directly make any misrepresentations of fact. (R.A. 48). Danny Gilbert was the marketing agent for lot 20 and the only Defendant who the Prices had any contact with prior to buying the land. (R.A. 358).

The Prices ultimately built a beautiful home, with another builder, and detached garage on Lot 20. (R.A. 1044-1105). The Prices currently reside in the home and have not applied with Berkeley County or the Eagle Harbor neighborhood to subdivide Lot 20. (R.A. 333, lines 5-8). The Price's filed a title insurance claim with Investors Title in connection with the above alleged misrepresentations. (R.A. 1306-1314). The Price's used the appraisal of Ed Carter, that is trial exhibit 38 in this case, as a basis for the damages and settled the Investors Title case for One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand (\$125,000.00) Dollars in or around September 9, 2015. (R.A. 1294- 1298).

Mr. and Mrs. Price testified at trial along with their appraiser, Ed Carter. Mr. Carter, an admitted residential real estate appraiser expert, offered his report of hypothetical values of damages which were not based upon the testimony presented at trial. The trial testimony established Lot 20 was subject to covenants and restrictions of Eagle Harbor, was sub-divisible, in a gated community, contained some amenities, and had approximately 2.0 acres of fresh-water wetlands encumbering it. Mr. Carter was unable to opine a value of Lot 20 as it existed at the time of closing in 2003 considering the freshwater wetlands.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, an appellate court is presented with a divided scope of review, and each action retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of review on appeal. *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 640 S.E.2d 486 (Ct. App. 2006). The proper analysis is to view the actions separately for the purpose of determining the appropriate standard of review. *Id.* An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *Id.* An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by an error of law. *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS GERRY FOX AS THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD EXPIRED.**

The statute of limitations in South Carolina on the matters complained of in the Respondent's Complaint is three years. South Carolina Code Ann. §15-3-530. In South Carolina, the statute of limitations is subject generally to the "discovery rule" rather than rigidly employed. The discovery rule provides that the statute of limitations does not begin to run until a person using reasonable diligence knew or should have known the existence of the claim. *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996). A person using reasonable diligence should have known the existence of a claim if the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice of that claim. *Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 367, 371, 597 S.E.2d 27, 29 (Ct. App. 2004). "The statute of limitations begins to run from this point and not when advice of counsel is sought or a full-blown theory of

recovery developed.” *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994).

Under South Carolina law, “[t]he important date under the discovery rule is the date that a plaintiff discovers the injury, not the date of the discovery of the identity of [the] wrongdoer.” *Id.*

“If, on the date of injury, a plaintiff knows or should know that she had some claim against someone else, the statute of limitations begins to run for all claims based on that injury.” *Id.*

“[T]he date when a plaintiff learns of a potential new defendant has absolutely no bearing on the timing of the statute of limitations.” *Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 367, 597 S.E.2d 27, 29 (Ct. App. 2004).

Here, the trial transcript, exhibits, and filed pleadings evidence that Respondents knew they had a claim in 2004 when they filed their complaint. (R.A. 132- R.A. 136). Moreover, as early as November 30, 2005 in the second amended complaint the Respondents alleged a cause of action for misrepresentation stemming out of representations of the lot they purchased being in a gated community, with valid HOA, and subject to covenants and restrictions and architectural guidelines and amenities against Gerry Fox. (R.A. 1261-1275). This amended complaint against Gerry Fox was “inexplicably withdrawn” by consent and dismissed without prejudice in February 7, 2006. (R.A. 1276 and R.A. 731, lines 17-18). Based upon the above, the statute of limitations against Gerry Fox would have run, at the very latest, on November 30, 2008. As such, the Trial Court’s Order dated October 17, 2017, over ten years after the statute had ran, denying summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations, was an error of law.

It is anticipated that Respondents may try to assert the relation back doctrine of South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 15; however, the relation back doctrine is inapplicable to this action. While Rule 15 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure generally permits parties to add claims to an existing suit which relate back to the initiation of the suit, Rule 15 has been

unambiguously construed by our Courts as not permitting an additional party to be added and having the same claims relate back against them. *Jackson v. John Doe*, 342 S.C. 552, 537 S.E.2d 567 (Ct. App. 2000).

Additionally, Respondents may assert that Rule 15 permits the substitution of parties to allow Gerry Fox to be added to this action. However, the key issue is whether Plaintiffs substitute a party or add a party. While the former is permissible under very limited circumstances, the latter is not permitted at all unless it is brought within the statute of limitations. The Court of Appeals has held that “the language of Rule 15(c) clearly speaks to a change in party, not the addition of a defendant to an already existing defendant. The addition of a party is not the same as a substitution or change of a party.” *Jackson v. Doe*, 342 S.C. 552, 558, 537 S.E.2d 567, 570 (Ct. App. 2000).

This holding was applied in 2009 in the case of *Gause v. Smithers*, 384 S.C. 130, 681 S.E.2d 607 (Ct. App. 2009). In that case, a victim of a hit and run tracked down the car and sued the owner. It was determined, after the statute of limitations had run, that the son of the owner was the driver who hit and ran. The victim then amended the complaint to add the son, claiming that he was merely substituting the son for the father under Rule 15. However, he kept the father in the case. The Court held:

We conclude this amounted to the addition of a defendant, the action Jackson sought to proscribe in keeping with the plain language of Rule 15(c). We are mindful this produces a harsh result, although Gause’s claims against Father remain viable. Nevertheless, we are compelled to affirm the findings of the circuit court. Because the addition of a party is not contemplated by Rule 15(c), we need not address whether Son’s being made a defendant was otherwise proper under that Rule. *Id.*

Furthermore, in *Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 367, 597 S.E.2d 27, 29 (Ct. App. 2004), the Plaintiff discovered his home was damaged. He sued the contractor, thinking

that the person who damaged the home was an employee of the contractor. After the statute of limitations ran, he discovered that the person who damaged the home was not an employee of the contractor, but rather an independent contractor. He attempted to sue the independent contractor. The Court of Appeals held that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations and the independent contractor could not be added to the suit.

Respondents may also attempt to assert that equitable tolling should be applied to this action to bring Gerry Fox into this action over ten (10) years after the action accrued; however equitable tolling of the statute of limitations is inapplicable. "South Carolina has rarely applied the doctrine of equitable tolling to halt the running of the statute of limitations. Equitable tolling is reserved for extraordinary circumstances." *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 377 S.C. 217, 230 659 S.E.2d 213, 219 (Ct. App. 2008), cert. granted, (Nov. 20, 2008). Nothing can call equity into activity but conscience, good faith, and diligence, Equity aids the vigilant, not those who slumber on their rights. *Hemingway v. Mention*, 228 S.C. 211, 89 S.E.2d 369 (1955).

Respondents have been anything but vigilant in pursuing their claims against Gerry Fox. Respondents uncontrovertibly knew of the claims against Gerry Fox in 2005 and voluntarily dismissed them and having done nothing for over ten (10) years. As such, the Court should not reward Respondents by allowing them to maintain a claim that is over ten (10) years old.

In conclusion, Respondents knew of their claims against Gerry Fox as early as 2005 and were charged with actual knowledge, at a minimum as early as 2004. They had the opportunity to pursue claims against Gerry Fox and instead of doing so, voluntarily dismissed their claims in 2006 and allowed the statute to run. For this reason, the trial court erred in failing to dismiss Gerry Fox from this litigation by Order filed June 29, 2018. This Order must be reversed!

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT FOR VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT.**

In South Carolina, the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUTPA) prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-20(a). In order to succeed on a SCUTPA claim, a plaintiff must show (1) that the defendant engaged in an unlawful trade practice; (2) that the plaintiff suffered actual, ascertainable damages as a result of the defendant's use of the unlawful trade practice; and (3) that the unlawful trade practice engaged in by the defendant had an adverse impact on the public interest. *Beattie v. Nations Credit Fin. Servs. Corp.*, 69 F. App'x 585 (4th Cir. 2003); *Havird Oil Co. v. Marathon Oil Co.*, 149 F.3d 283 (4th Cir. 1998).

In private actions under SCUTPA, directors and officers are not liable for the corporation's unfair trade practices unless they personally commit, participate in, direct, or authorize the commission of a violation of the SCUTPA. *Plowman v. Bagnal*, 316 S.C. 283, 450 S.E.2d 36 (1994). Moreover, it is settled law in South Carolina that, when the master and servant are sued together for the same act of negligence, or willful tort, and the master's liability rests solely upon the servant's conduct, a verdict against the master alone is illogical and cannot stand. *Pettis v. Standard Oil Co.*, 176 S.C. 88, 179 S.E. 894 (1935).

Here, this Respondent cannot maintain a claim against Petitioners for violation of SCUTPA as the evidence presented at trial failed to yield the requisite proof of the first and third elements of the SCUTPA.

There is no evidence that Petitioners engaged in willful and unlawful conduct. In fact, the trial court held that the alleged misrepresentations were not made by Petitioners but rather Danny Gilbert. (R.A. 44 and R.A. 48). As such there was no evidence that the Petitioners,

Belinda Fox and Gerry Fox, actually engaged in an unlawful trade practice. The trial court imputed the acts of Gilbert onto the Foxes based upon agency principals. However, in order to hold the Petitioners liable under the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, there must be testimony that the Foxes consented or directed Gilbert's unlawful actions. S.C Code Ann. § 39-5-20 (a) requires evidence of unlawful and unfair methods of competition or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce. The plain reading of the statute establishes the tort of SCUTPA requires the Respondents to establish willful conduct, not mere negligence by the Petitioners. The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible. *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54, 504 S.E.2d 117 (1998). In construing a statute, its words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. *First Baptist Church of Mauldin v. City of Mauldin*, 308 S.C. 226, 417 S.E.2d 592 (1992).

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