THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED
JUL 08 2019
SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Daniel E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001993

Ronald E. Price and Diana R. B. Price.....Respondents

vs.

Belinda Fox and Gerry Fox.....Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

J. Derrick Jackson, SC Bar 15192
Tobias G. Ward, Jr. P.A.
P.O. Box 50124
Columbia, SC 29250
803-708-4200
dj@tobywardlaw.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

- 1. THE ISSUE OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AS TO GERRY FOX IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW BECAUSE AN ORDER DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS NOT APPEALABLE EVEN AFTER JUDGMENT AND THE APPELLANT DID NOT RAISE THE ISSUE AGAIN AT TRIAL OR IN A POST-TRIAL MOTION.**

The Appellant's first argument is that the trial judge erred in denying Defendant's motion to dismiss Gerry Fox because the statute of limitation has expired. To the best of Respondent's knowledge, the Appellant never filed a motion to dismiss on this ground⁵. The Appellant did file a motion for summary judgment on this ground which was denied by the trial court in an order dated October 23, 2017 (R. 68) and reconsideration of the motion denied by Form 4 order dated November 28, 2017. (R. 64) Both orders were included in Appellant's Notice of Intent to Appeal. (R. 101) However, this court has repeatedly held that the denial of a motion for summary judgment is not appealable. Further, this Court has held that the denial of summary judgment is not reviewable even in an appeal from final judgment. *Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 443 S.E.2d 379 (1994); *Silverman v. Campbell*, 326 S.C. 208, 486 S.E.2d 1 (1997).

The reasons for this were explained in *Ballenger*, "A denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case, but simply decides the case should proceed to trial. (*citations omitted*). The denial of summary judgment does not establish the law of the case, and the issues raised in the motion may be raised again

⁵ The Appellants did file a motion to dismiss on the eve of trial, but this was based on *res judicata* and the title insurance lawsuit.

later in the proceedings by a motion to reconsider the summary judgment motion or by a motion for a directed verdict. *Ballenger*, 313 S.C. at 477, 443 S.E.2d at 380. Therefore, to preserve this issue for appeal, it was incumbent on the Appellants to renew this argument at trial and have the court rule upon it. However, Appellants did not renew the argument at trial by motion for nonsuit⁶ or in the Appellants' post-trial motions. Furthermore, other than the order denying summary judgment, the Prices are not aware of any instance where the trial court has ruled on the issue. Therefore, since an order denying summary judgment is not appealable, the issue was not raised again at trial on in a post-trial motion and the issue was not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal and should not be reviewed by this court.

2. **IN AN ABUNDANCE OF CAUTION AND ONLY TO THE EXTENT THE COURT DOES FIND THE ISSUE IS PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND SUBJECT TO APPELLATE REIVEW, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE RELATION BACK DOCTRINE WHEN THE DEFENDANT HAD NOTICE OF THE LAWSUIT FROM THE BEGINNING, HIS WIFE, WHO WAS A PARTY FROM THE BEGINNING, WAS USED BY HIM FOR ASSET PROTECTION AND TO MISLEAD BUYERS, AND HE SUFFERED NO PREJUDICE FROM BEING ADDED TO THE SUIT.**

Gerry Fox⁷ argues that the Prices individual claims against him are barred by the three-year statute of limitations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. Mr. Fox asserts the Prices knew about their claims for damages in 2004 and that at least by 2005 knew

⁶ The Appellants made a "directed verdict" motion at the conclusion of the Plaintiffs' case and renewed at the conclusion of the case, but the statute of limitations was not argued as one of the grounds. (R 740-743, 879)

⁷ This argument only applies to Gerry Fox as his wife, Belinda Fox was a Defendant from the beginning.

about their claims against Gerry Fox. The Prices do not contest that they knew about their claims in 2004 but assert that under the relation back provisions of Rule 15(c) their claims against Gerry Fox relate back to the original pleadings.

RELATION BACK UNDER RULE 15(c) SCRPC

Rule 15(c) SCRPC provides as follows:

(c) Relation Back of Amendments. Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading.

An amendment *changing* the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the foregoing provision is satisfied and, within the period provided by law for commencing the action against him the party to be brought in by amendment (1) has received such *notice* of the institution of the action that he will not be *prejudiced* in maintaining his defense on the merits, and (2) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against him.

(Emphasis added).

All these factors have been satisfied in this case. There is no dispute that the Second Amended Complaint arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings relating to misrepresentations made to the Prices and lack of disclosure, the failure to properly develop the subdivision, the defective covenants and the presence of wetlands on the property.

Also, there is no prejudice for Gerry Fox as his wife (who he put forth as the proper party by buying the land in her name) was an original Defendant from the

beginning of the lawsuit. Finally, he had sufficient knowledge that he should have been included as a Defendant during the limitations period.

Mr. Fox does not contest these elements, but rather relies on a line of cases going back to *Jackson v. John Doe*, 342 S.C. 552, 558, 537 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2000). In *Jackson* the court states, "The language of Rule 15(c) clearly speaks to a change in party, not the addition of a defendant to an already existing defendant. In our view, the addition of a party is not the same as a substitution or change of party. See *Kraly v. Vannewkirk*, 69 Ohio St. 3d 627, 635 N.E.2d 323 (1994) (determining that Ohio's Rule 15(c), which is similar to our Rule 15(c), allows for relation back when a party is substituted but not when a party is added while retaining a party named in the original suit).

The Respondent notes that even in that case, there was a split in authority on whether *adding* a party was a change under Rule 15(c). The *Jackson* court notes, " *But see Harding v. Godwin*, 238 Ga. App. 432, 518 S.E.2d 910 (1999) (noting the Georgia relationship back statute, which contains essentially the same language as our Rule 15(c), authorizes the addition of a new party under certain circumstances if the requirements of the statute are strictly met), cert. denied (Oct. 22, 1999) (emphasis added). *Jackson*, 342 S.C. at 558, 537 S.E.2d at 570. The other cases cited by Mr. Fox all rely on this single 2000 Court of Appeals decision.

The Respondent submits that the interpretation of the relation back doctrine under Rule 15(c) has changed or evolved in the seventeen years since *Jackson*. The trial

court agreed. The modern interpretation of Rule 15(c) is that an amendment adding a party relates back if the new party received adequate notice within the limitations period and suffers no prejudice in its defense. This modern rule can be seen in the following cases⁸.

In *Goodman v. PraxAir, Inc.*, 494 F.3d 458, 468 (4th Cir. 2007) the court states,

In light of these policies, Rule 15(c) must be understood to freely permit amendment of pleadings and their relation-back so long as the policies of statutes of limitations have been effectively served. See 3 James Wm. Moore, et al., *Moore's Federal Practice* § 15.19[3][a] (3d ed. 1997) ("The purpose of Rule 15(c) is to provide the opportunity for a claim to be tried on its merits, rather than being dismissed on procedural technicalities, when the policy behind the statute of limitations has been addressed"). And that is accomplished in Rule 15(c) by requiring that a new party have had adequate notice within the limitations period and by assuring that the new party not be prejudiced by the passage of time between the original pleading and the amended pleading.

In *Goodman*, the lower district court ruled -similar to the citations by Mr. Fox in his brief-, "(1) that the amended complaint did not "change the party or the naming of the party against whom the claim [was] asserted," but rather added Praxair Services, Inc.; (2) that Goodman "was fully aware of the existence of [Praxair Services, Inc.] and its correct name," and therefore his mistake in naming only Praxair, Inc., in the original complaint was not the type of mistake on which Rule 15(c)(3) acts..." *Id.* .

⁸ The Trial Court was aware and the Prices disclosed these cases are based on federal law and application of the federal rules of civil procedure; however, our Rule of Civil Procedure is based on the Rule 15 of the federal rules of civil procedure and typically the federal courts and especially the Fourth Circuit for our jurisdiction point the way to the developing interpretations of the law.

In response to the district court ruling, the 4th Circuit Court of Appeals found that the *addition* of parties to a complaint may be broadly construed as a *change* of parties. See *Goodman*, 494 F.3d at 468 (accepting plaintiff's interpretation of Rule 15(c) that " 'an *addition* to something is generally regarded as a *change* to that thing' "). The court wrote, "[W]e can discern no policy that would be served by the ... defendants' restrictive reading of 'changes,' which would force the amending party to drop a defendant for each defendant he adds." *Id.* at 469. This appears to be what Mr. Fox is contending, that the Prices must drop a Defendant (presumably Ms. Fox) to add him to the complaint.

The *Goodman* court also clarified the "mistake" language of Rule 15(c), "The "mistake" language is textually limited to describing the notice that the new party had, requiring that the new party have expected or should have expected, within the limitations period; that it was meant to be named a party in the first place, although it also implies that the plaintiff in fact made a mistake. No policy supports permitting relation-back for typographical mistakes, but not for oversights or mistakes of inclusion or omission. The policy considerations of Rule 15(c) concern whether the repose granted by statutes of limitations is preserved for parties named in amended pleadings. And that depends on the notice to and effect on the new party. The limitations of Rule 15(c)(3) thus only apply when the policies underlying limitations rules may be trampled. As Justice Holmes explained:

Of course, an argument can be made on the other side, but when a defendant has had notice from the beginning that the plaintiff sets up and is trying to enforce a claim against it because of specified conduct, the reasons for the statute of limitations do not exist, and we are of opinion that a liberal rule should be applied.

New York Cent. & Hudson River R.R. v. Kinney, 260 U.S. 340, 346, 43 S.Ct. 122, 67 L.Ed. 294 (1922) (emphasis added); see also Rebecca S. Engrav, *Relation Back of Amendments Naming Previously Unnamed Defendants Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c)*, 89 Calif. L.Rev. 1549, 1573–78 (2001) (advocating liberal construction of “mistake” language in Rule 15(c)(3)).” *Id.* at 471. In this case, Gerry Fox had notice from the beginning of the Prices claim.

The *Goodman* case has been cited and followed by the district court for South Carolina in a product liability case, “Based on this evidence, Mid–Continent should have known that, as the chair manufacturer, it would be included in McKnight's complaint. When an added party “has been given fair notice of a claim within the limitations period and will suffer no improper prejudice in defending it, the liberal amendment policies of the Federal Rules favor relation back.” *Id.* *McKnight v. Iceberg Enters. L.L.C.*, No. 9:10-cv-03248-DCN, 2012 WL 2418870, at *4 (D.S.C. June 26, 2012).

The present case provides a good illustration of the application and intent of the rule. Gerry Fox had full notice of the claims against him from the beginning of this litigation. He was not named as a party initially because of his own design to place the Phase II property in his wife’s name for asset protection. (R. 1127-1128) He is not prejudiced in his defense in this matter because his wife Belinda Fox was named in the

original pleadings and Mr. Fox has had a front row seat to monitor the course of this litigation. Furthermore, Defendant Gerry Fox filed an answer on January 6, 2016 so he had ample time to prepare his defense. (R. 103) In the event this court finds this issue is preserved for appeal, this court should affirm the trial court and find that the policies behind the statute of limitations have been satisfied as to Gerry Fox and that the amended pleadings relate back under the modern interpretation of Rule 15(c). Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying Fox's motion for summary judgment based on the statute of limitations.

3. THERE IS AMPLE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS FOR VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT SO THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S "DIRECTED VERDICT"⁹.

"After the plaintiff in an action tried by the court without a jury has completed the presentation of his evidence, the defendant; . . . may move for a dismissal on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief." Rule 41(b), SCRPC; see Ducworth v. Neely, 319 S.C. 158, 159 n.1, 459 S.E.2d 896, 897 n.1 (Ct. App. 1995) Rule 41(b) allows the judge as fact finder to weigh the evidence and determine the facts. Johnson v. J.P. Stevens & Co., 308 S.C. 116, 118, 417 S.E.2d 527, 529

⁹ While Appellant's motion recited in argument and at the close of the evidence was couched as a "directed verdict" motion, governed by Rule 50, SCRPC, this was a non-jury action. As Rule 50 by its nature is applicable to jury trials, the proper motion for Appellant to have made was a motion for involuntary non-suit under Rule 41, SCRPC Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n v. Paragon, Inc., 342 S.C. 454, 458, 536 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 2000)

(1992). Therefore, Appellant's appeal is from the master's factual findings as a judge in a non-jury action at law. See *S.C. Fed. Sav. Bank v. Thornton-Crosby Dev. Co.*, 310 S.C. 232, 235, 423 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1992) (stating an action seeking money damages for breach of contract is an action at law); *Roberts v. Gaskins*, 327 S.C. 478, 483, 486 S.E.2d 771, 773 (Ct. App. 1997) (same). "In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." *Townes Assocs., Ltd.*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 775. Thus, this court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the master's findings. *Waterpointe I Prop. Owner's Ass'n v. Paragon, Inc.*, 342 S.C. 454, 458-59, 536 S.E.2d 878, 880-81 (Ct. App. 2000). In this case, there is ample evidence to support the master's findings.

UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE ACTS

As discussed by the master, the record is replete with specific examples of unfair and deceptive acts committed by Gilbert as marketing partner on behalf of the Phase II development partnership. Gilbert marketed and sold lots in Phase II without having the plat for the lots approved by DHEC in violation of Reg. 61-57 (R. 1107-1108) which expressly prohibited that activity. By March 7, 2003, and despite the prohibition against

selling lots prior to subdivision approval by DHEC, Gilbert on behalf of the Partnership had closed the sale, contracted to sell or gift, 16 of the 20 lots in Phase II. (R. 1018)¹⁰

Neither Gilbert, EHI nor the Foxes applied to DHEC or Office of Coastal Resource Management (OCRM) for a permit before clearing the land and constructing roads. They also failed to perform wetlands delineations as part of an application for an NPDES permit under the Clean Water Act and Comprehensive Stormwater Prevention Plan (CSWPP) which is required for any construction project of more than one acre. (S.C. Code Ann. § 48-14-30; S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 72-305; 33 U.S.C.S. § 1344). (R. 1151-1154, 1176, ¶10-13).

Despite Gilbert's knowledge that the Prices lot would not perk or support a septic tank, and a high-water table (R. 1142-1143), Gilbert represented the Prices lot could have a septic tank and that the Prices lot could be further subdivided. (R. 339, 542) Indeed, Gilbert's testimony was that he showed them on the plans where the septic tank would be located. (R. 1119)

Gilbert referred the Prices to Jeff Spell who was typed into the contract as the closing agent. Gilbert testified Spell was his good friend and in fact Spell actually represented both Gilbert and the development at the time. (R. 860, 862, 865)

¹⁰ Compare State ex rel. McLeod v. C & L Corp., 280 S.C. 519, 313 S.E.2d 334 (Ct. App. 1984)(selling lots early in violation of local subdivision ordinance)

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